

Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries and Economics

Norwegian College of Fishery Science

# Studies of JAK/STAT signaling in Atlantic salmon

# Mehrdad Sobhkhez

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor – June 2014



# Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Norwegian College of Fishery Science, Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries and Economics, University of Tromsø from October 2011 to June 2014. Additional financial support was given from Aquaculture program of The Research Council of Norway (grant no 185217/40).

My outmost gratitude and thanks goes to Professor Jorunn B. Jørgensen, my first supervisor, without whom this would not have been possible. Her tireless guidance, patience and deep knowledge of the field have undoubtedly been indispensable throughout this process. Thanks Jorunn for giving me this opportunity and for all the support. And I would like to thank Astrid Skjesol, my second supervisor, for her support and helpful discussions.

I also would like to thank my co-authors for their contribution to this thesis: Tom Hansen, Astrid Skjesol, Dimitar B. Iliev, Ernst Thomassen, Linn Greiner Tollersrud, Baojian Sun, Børre Robertsen, Theresa Liebe, Lisbeth Lindenskov Joensen, Christopher J. Secombes.

Many thanks to Dimitar B. Iliev for volunteering to read this work, and for the useful feedback he provided. Thanks Dimi for always being there. And many thanks to Hanna L. Thim for great job she did in proofreading this work, for her kindness and for her friendly attitude toward all of us.

And I would like to thank Professor Børre Robertson, who provided us with different fish interferon that were used in this study, they were important tools in production of many of data presented and discussed here.

I also want to thank all the members of fish immunology group, especially Team Jørgensen, both past and present, for their contribution to a good working environment.

And finally thanks to my family and all of my friends for their support and encouragement.

# Contents

Abbreviations
List of papers
Background9
Introduction:
Cytokines and the immune system10
Cells producing type I IFNs11
JAK / STAT signaling pathway12
The Janus Kinases14
The Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription15
Interferon Regulatory Factor 916
Regulation of JAK / STAT17
JAK / STAT in fish19
Studies of SOCS in fish
Aims of study
Summary of papers
Discussion of the main findings
Tyk2
STAT1 & 2
IRF9
SOCS
Future prospects:
Main conclusion
Referances

# **Abbreviations**

aa	Amino acid
APC	Antigen presenting cells
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CHSE-214	Chinook salmon embryo cells
CISH	Cytokine-inducible SH2- containing protein
CpG	Cytosine-phosphate-guanine
DBD	DNA-binding domain
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
FERM	Four point, ezrin, radixin, moesin
GAS	Gamma interferon activation site
НК	Head kidney
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon $\alpha/\beta$ receptor
IFNGR	Interferon $\gamma$ receptor
IL28R	Interleukin 28 receptor
IL-10R2	Interleukin 10 receptor 2
IPNV	Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
ISAV	Infectious salmon anemia virus
ISG	Interferon stimulated gene
ISGF3	Interferon stimulated gene factor 3
ISRE	Interferon stimulated response element
JAK	Janus kinase

JH	Janus homology
kDa	Kilo Dalton
KIR	Kinase inhibitor region
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mRNA	messenger RNA
Mx	Myxovirus resistance
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
NES	Nuclear export signal
ND	N-terminal domain
NK	Natural killer cells
NLR	Nod like receptor
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendrittic cell
PIAS	Protein inhibitor of activated STAT1
Poly I:C	Polyinosinic polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
qPCR	quantitative PCR
РТР	protein tyrosine phosphatases
RIG-I	Retinoic acid inducible gene I
RLR	RIG-I- like receptors
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SH2	Src homology 2
SHP	SH2-containing Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase

PTP	Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase
SOCS	Supressor of cytokine signaling
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TAD	Transcriptional activation domain
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
ТО	Atlantic salmon head kidney cell-line
Tyk2	Tyrosine kinase2

# Summary

In mammals the JAK-STAT pathway plays a significant role in mediating the biological activities of both type I and type II IFN, where JAKs are receptor associated kinases and STATs the transcription factors they activate. At the start of this project the knowledge of the JAK-STAT pathway in fish in general was scarce and there were few reports describing the function of any JAK-STAT family member in the Atlantic salmon. There was also very limited knowledge about molecules involved in regulation of this signaling pathway in fish. In this project period we have cloned and / or initiated studies of the functional activity of the transcription factors STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 and also the TYK2 kinase, as well as several members of the suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) family derived from salmon.

In paper I two full length and two truncated isoforms of salmon Tyk2 were identified. The full length Tyk2 had the same domain structure as its mammalian counterpart and like its mammalian homolog salmon TYK2 was shown to be autophosporylated on tyrosine residues when overexpressed in salmon cell lines, while a mutation in the ATP binding site abolished this activity. This suggests that the phosphorylation of salmon TYK2 is a result of autophosphorylation and not caused by the activity of another kinase. Our experiments showed that cells overexpressing TYK2 produced higher levels of Mx transcripts and Mx-promoter activation upon IFN-treatment then the controls overexpressing empty vector. These results suggest that TYK2 in salmon has a role in mediating IFN-signaling.

In paper II salmon IRF9 and two STAT2 isoforms (STAT2a and STAT2b) were cloned and further characterized and the identified molecules showed functional conservation to their mammalian counterparts. STAT2a and STAT2b were tyrosine phosphorylated as result of both type I and type II IFN stimulation and they translocated to the nucleus when co-expressed with STAT1a or IRF9. STAT1a did interact with STAT2a and STAT2b, and all three molecules did interact with IRF9 as well as Tyk2.

Regulation of innate immune responses, including IFN-induction, is critical since excessive inflammatory reaction can be deleterious. The SOCS proteins are involved in the negative regulation of the JAK/STAT pathway. Although, SOCS proteins have been studied extensively

in mammals they are still poorly characterized in lower vertebrates, including fish. In the third paper in this thesis we have cloned and characterized 3 Atlantic salmon SOCS-family members, SOCS1, SOCS2 and CISH, which all showed high conservation to their mammalian homologs. In the basal state all three SOCS-molecules were expressed at low levels in organs and cells. However, upon stimulation by IFNs or TLR-ligands their expression, and SOCS1 in particular, were rapidly induced, showing that their induction occur through ligands associated with both JAK/STAT and TLR-signaling. The most exciting finding regarding the SOCS-protein was that SOCS1 very potently inhibited both IFNa1 and IFN□ signaling and thus have a putative role in IFN-mediated antiviral responses in fish.

In conclusion, this work contributes to understanding of JAK/STAT signaling in Atlantic salmon and shows that this signaling pathway is conserved between Atlantic salmon and mammals, although there are some differences between them which calls for further investigations.

# List of papers

# Paper 1

Mehrdad Sobhkhez, Tom Hansen, Dimitar B. Iliev, Astrid Skjesol, Jorunn B. Jørgensen

The Atlantic salmon protein tyrosine kinase Tyk2: molecular cloning, modulation of expression and function. Dev Comp Immunol. 41(4): 553 - 63.

# Paper 2

Sobhkhez, M., Skjesol, A., Thomassen E., Greiner–Tollersrud L., Iliev, D.B., Sun, B., Robertsen B. & J. B. Jørgensen (2014)

Structural and functional characterization of salmon STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 homologs sheds light on IFN signaling in teleosts. Manuscript.

# Paper 3

Astrid Skjesol, Theresa Liebe, Dimitar B. Iliev, Ernst I Thomassen, Linn G. Tollersrud, Mehrdad Sobhkhez, Lisbeth Lindenskov Joensen, Chris J. Secombes and Jorunn B. Jørgensen

Functional conservation of suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins between teleosts and mammals: Atlantic salmon SOCS1 binds to JAK/STAT family members and suppresses type I and II IFN signaling. Dev Comp Immunol 45(1): 177 - 89.

# Background

Teleost fish species constitute almost half of the vertebrate species in existence today and different members of teleost fish are farmed in greater numbers than ever before. This is a stressful process which also renders fish susceptible to different viral infections. In addition to the negative impact on the fish welfare, infectious outbreaks cause major economic losses which the farming industry has to deal with. The JAK / STAT signaling is a conserved signaling pathway in the animals. In higher vertebrates detection of virus leads to expression of interferons (IFNs) which activates JAK/STAT signaling pathway. Activation of JAK/STAT signaling leads to expression of many ISGs that induce an antiviral state in the organism. This fact inevitably makes this signaling pathway a major target for immune evasion strategies used by viruses. Thus a detailed understanding of molecules involved in the JAK/STAT signaling is an important pre-requisite in the understanding of viruses immune evasion strategies and a necessary step in devising ways to counter them.

# **Introduction:**

The immune system of higher vertebrate is divided into an innate and an adaptive branch. The innate immune system is the first line of defense against the invading microorganisms and viruses, and is immediately available to combat threats. It responds to common structures shared by groups of pathogens, these common structures are called pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and they are detected through pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs). The different PRRs are specific for different components of microbes and viruses like LPS, proteins, peptidoglycans, DNA and /or RNA and they are constitutively expressed in effector cells of the innate immune system including professional antigen presenting cells (APC) and epithelial cells (Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997).

Several families of PRRs are recognized including Toll like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I- like receptors (RLRs), NOD-like receptor (NLRs) and cytosolic DNA receptors, reviewed in (Beutler, 2009, O'Neill et al., 2013, Loo and Gale, 2011, Barber, 2011, Kvarnhammar et al.,

2011). While TLRs are expressed either on the cell surface or on lysosomal or endosomal membranes, the RLRs and the NLRs are found in the cytoplasm. Upon binding to their PAMPs, most PRRs activate different signaling pathways that regulate the activation of different transcription factors resulting in the secretion of many cytokines and chemokines from innate immune cells.

## Cytokines and the immune system

Cytokines are small signaling proteins / peptides that are secreted by cells which mediate and regulate immunity, inflammation and hematopoiesis. They exert their function through autocrine (binding to the receptors on the cells that secrete them) and/or paracrine (binding to the receptors on secreting cells and those in their proximity) and/or endocrine (entering circulation and effecting cells in other parts of the body) activity.

During viral infections, some of the most important defense molecules produced are IFNs and they were also the first cytokine group identified. IFN was discovered as a secretory factor when Isaacs and Lindenmann were studying an already established principle of virus interference (Isaacs and Lindenmann, 1957). IFNs are cytokines that "interfere" with virus replication; they are produced and secreted by the infected cells of the organism in response to virus infection and act in autocrine and paracrine manner (Gautier et al., 2005, Gao et al., 1998, Curtsinger et al., 2012). Expression of IFNs leads to expression of many IFN stimulated genes (ISGs), among them many antiviral proteins.

In human as well as in a number of other mammalian species there are 3 classes of IFNs identified; type I, type II and type III IFNs, and the 3 different classes are shown to interact with different receptors and to trigger specific signaling pathways. Type I IFN, which in mammals include IFN $\alpha$ 's and IFN $\beta$ , are most likely produced by almost all tissues and cell types when they are exposed to appropriate stimuli (Pestka, 2007, Pestka et al., 2004). Type II IFN consists of IFN $\gamma$  and is predominantly produced by T-cells and NK-cells (Schroder et al., 2004). The main function of IFN $\gamma$  is probably not being an antiviral cytokine, but rather acting as a regulatory cytokine in both innate and adaptive immunity. Type III IFN include IFN $\lambda$ 's (Sheppard et al.,

2003). While type I and type II IFN receptors are expressed by most cells, expression of receptors for type III IFN are highly restricted (Sommereyns et al., 2008, Pott et al., 2011). Both type I, II and III IFN demonstrate antiviral activity (Osterlund et al., 2005, Schroder et al., 2004, Kotenko et al., 2003), however, its type I IFN that is involved in the early response to viral infection. Several members of type I IFN with high structural homology are identified in mammals, 13 IFN $\alpha$  (IFN $\alpha$ -1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 13, 14, 16, 17, 21) and one IFN $\beta$  and also IFN- $\varepsilon$ ,  $\kappa$ , $\tau$  and more (Pestka et al., 2004). Although most cell types do secrete type I IFN, there are several types of cells in different tissues that express type I IFN in response to various viral infections.

#### **Cells producing type I IFNs**

One of the main type I IFN producing cell type is plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC's) reviewed in (McKenna et al., 2005, Reizis et al., 2011). These cells are resistant to viral replication since they constitutively express molecules like IFN regulatory factor (IRF) 7 that are important for type I IFN expression (Izaguirre et al., 2003). pDC's are activated through the MyD88 signaling pathway. This occurs when viruses enter endosomal compartments through endocytosis or autophagy and their RNA and / or DNA is detected by the endosomal receptors TLR7 and 9, respectively (Lund et al., 2004, Krug et al., 2004, Lund et al., 2003). pDC's are an important source of type I IFN in systemic infections (Swiecki et al., 2013) and in defense against infections in skin (Bond et al., 2012), but their impact is limited in time and capacity. Some of the other cell types involved in type I IFN secretion are epithelial and alveolar macrophages that are lining the airways and that are the main type I IFN producing cells during mucosal infections (Jewell et al., 2007, Kumagai et al., 2007). Epithelial cells produce type I IFN in gut and lungs in response to retrovirus and influenza virus, respectively, and neurons and astrocytes are an important source of type I IFN during brain infection (Delhaye et al., 2006, Kallfass et al., 2012).

Many cytokines, including the IFNs transmit signals from cell-surface to the nucleus by activating members of the signal transducers and activators (STAT) family. The STAT proteins are activated by tyrosine phosphorylation that alters their confirmation to allow specific binding to other proteins and nuclear localization (Kiu and Nicholson, 2012). Type I IFN receptors

(IFNAR1 and IFNAR2) and type III IFN receptors (IL28R / IL-10R2) are associated with Janus Kinase (JAK) 1 and Tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2), while type II IFN receptors (IFNGR1and IFNGR2) are associated with JAK1 and JAK2 (Pestka et al., 2004).

# JAK / STAT signaling pathway

The Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathway is one of the main pathways used to transduce signals from the cell membrane to the nucleus in animals from human to fruitfly. Principal compounds of JAK / STAT signaling pathway are JAKs and STATs, and in the case of type I IFN activated JAK / STAT signaling, also IRF9. The JAK / STAT signaling pathway is activated when ligands (i.e. different cytokines) bind to the extracellular domain of specific cellular receptors. This interaction leads to dimerization / multimerization of the receptor subunits, which bring JAKs – that are non-covalently associated with the intracellular domains of the receptors – in proximity of each other. This leads to auto-and transactivation of JAKs. Activated JAKs phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the receptors intracellular domains and on their substrates, the STATs. Phosphorylation of STATs leads to dimerization and translocation to the nucleus where they bind to specific DNA sequences and induce transcription of their target genes (Kiu and Nicholson, 2012, Stark and Darnell, 2012, Heim, 1999) (Figure 1).



FIGURE 1: JAK/STAT activation as result of type I and typ II IFN activity.

Type I IFN interacts with IFNAR1 and IFNAR 2 on the target cells and activates JAK family members JAK1 and Tyk2. Activated JAKs phosphorylate STAT1 and STAT2, a process that leads to hetero dimerization of STATs. Dimerized STATs interact with IRF9 and form ISGF3 that binds to ISRE DNA sequence in the nucleus and activates expression of type I IFN sensitive genes (ISGs). Type II IFN interacts with IFNGR1 and IFNGR 2 subunits and activates JAK1 and JAK2 that phosphorylate STAT1. Phosphorylated STAT1 homo-dimerize and translocate to the nucleus and binds to GAS DNA sequence and activate expression of IFN $\gamma$  sensitive genes.

The figure is modified from (Platanias, 2005)

JAK / STAT signaling is negatively regulated mainly by 3 classes of molecules; a) protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) which inhibit the signaling by dephosphorylating the receptor and /

or activated JAKs and STATs, b) protein inhibitors of activated STATs (PIAS) which in some cases bind to dimerized STATs and inhibits their binding to DNA and c) suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) that are expressed as result of JAK / STAT activation and bind to the JAKs and / or the IFN receptors in order to inhibit the signaling (Rawlings et al., 2004).

# **The Janus Kinases**

JAKs are a family of large protein tyrosine kinases with sizes ranging from 120 to 140 kDa. In mammals four members of this family are identified; JAK1, JAK2, JAK3 and Tyk2 (Firmbach-Kraft et al., 1990, Wilks, 1989, Wilks, 1991, Harpur et al., 1992, Krolewski et al., 1990, Kawamura et al., 1994). Tyk2 was the first member of this family to be identified as an important molecule in formation of interferon stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) as result of type I IFN signaling (Velazquez et al., 1992).



Figure 2. Domain like structure of JAKs

JAKs have a characteristic structure that is conserved between mammal, avian, teleost and insect species and it is divided into 7 JAK homology domains (JH) named from the carboxyl end (Figure 2). JH1 on the proteins C-terminal end is a tyrosine kinase domain (Wilks et al., 1991); it has a similar structure to other protein tyrosine kinases and includes an ATP binding site and a catalytic site. Specific mutation at the ATP binding site inactivates kinase function, probably by inhibiting ATP binding (Gauzzi et al., 1996). On the tyrosine kinase domain there are two tyrosine residues that are phosphorylated when the kinase is activated. The pseudo kinase domain

is located N-terminally to JH1, JH2 (Wilks et al., 1991) and shows all the hallmarks of protein tyrosine kinases but lacks kinase activity and it has been shown to act as a regulatory domain on tyrosine kinase. The kinase and the pseudo kinase domains seem to be evolutionary related (Wilks et al., 1991) . JH3 and JH4 constitute the Src homology 2 (SH2) like domain. And finally the JH6 – 7 domain which is named FERM (four point, ezrin, radixin, moesin) (Girault et al., 1999). The FERM domain seems to interact with transmembrane proteins like cytokine receptors (Richter et al., 1998, Zhao et al., 1995, Frank et al., 1995, Velazquez et al., 1995) and in the case of Tyk2, this interaction is necessary to sustain IFNRA level (Gauzzi et al., 1997) FERM also interacts with and positively regulates tyrosine kinase activity of JAKs. Inside the cell, JAKs are usually found in the cytosol, mostly associated with their receptors in the endosomes and at the plasma membrane (Yeh and Pellegrini, 1999). While JAK1, JAK2 and Tyk2 are constitutively expressed, JAK 3 is expressed only in hematopoietic cells and its expression is highly regulated through cell development and activation (Yeh and Pellegrini, 1999).

#### The Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription

STATs are latent cytoplasmic transcription factors that are translocated to the nucleus upon activation and are found from mammals to insects and nematodes (Liongue and Ward, 2013). In mammals seven different STATs have been identified and named STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5a, STAT5b, and STAT6 (Leonard and O'Shea, 1998). STAT molecules have highly conserved domains and characteristic structure comprised of; N-terminal domain, coil-coiled domain, DNA-binding domain (DBD), SH2 domain and transcription activation domain (TAD) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Domain like structure of STATs

The N-terminal domain seems to be responsible for homo-dimerization of inactive STATs (Mertens et al., 2006, Mao et al., 2005) as well as their nuclear import, deactivation (Strehlow

and Schindler, 1998, Mertens et al., 2006) and their cooperative DNA-binding to tandem IFN- $\gamma$ activation sequence (GAS) (Xu et al., 1996, Vinkemeier et al., 1996). The coiled - coil domain interacts with SH2 domain and facilitates its interaction with the receptor (Zhang et al., 2000). STAT coiled – coil is shown to interact with other proteins as well and in the case of STAT1 and STAT2 it is shown to bind other proteins like IRF9 (Horvath et al., 1996) and other regulatory proteins. The DBD binds to specific DNA sequences (Horvath et al., 1995, Ehret et al., 2001). Linker domain (LK) plays an important role for nuclear trans-location (Devaux et al., 2013) and in STAT1 it is essential for transcriptional activity of IFNy (Yang et al., 1999, Yang et al., 2002) and in receptor recruitment and dimerization. The SH2 domain, is a sequence-specific phosphotyrosine-binding structure found in many molecules like JAKs and STATs. This domain is responsible for differential interaction of STATs with cytokine receptors in response to different stimuli (Hemmann et al., 1996) as well as homo and hetero dimeriziation of activated STATs (Gupta et al., 1996, Shuai et al., 1994). And finally the transactivation domain (TAD) is located at the C-terminus of the molecule (Muller et al., 1993, Moriggl et al., 1996, Caldenhoven et al., 1996, Mui et al., 1996). While tyrosine phosphorylation is obligatory for STAT activation, STATs are also phosphorylated on a serine residue located in the TAD domain (Ser<sup>727</sup> in human STAT1), which has to be phosphorylated in order for STAT to exert full activity (Beadling et al., 1996). Both in STAT1 and STAT2 their TAD domains interact with p300 and CBP (CREB binding protein), which both are transcriptional co-activators (Bhattacharya et al., 1996, Zhang et al., 1996).

## **Interferon Regulatory Factor 9**

Interferon Regulatory Factors (IRFs) are transcription factors involved in antiviral defense and immune response, as well as cell growth regulation and apoptosis. In human, nine members of this family are identified (IRF1 – 9) (Paun and Pitha, 2007, Nehyba et al., 2002).



All IRFs have a highly conserved DBD in their N-terminal, with a helix – turn – helix formation that interacts with DNA through three of its five highly conserved tryptophan (W) residues (Escalante et al., 1998) (Figure 4). The C-terminus is more diverse and possesses regulatory functions (Barnes et al., 2002, Lin et al., 1999, Lin et al., 2000). Several members of the IRF family are involved in IFN signaling in various ways, IRF3, IRF7 and IRF5 are involved in expression of type I IFN genes (Juang et al., 1999, Wathelet et al., 1998), while IRF9 is the only member of IRF family that is directly involved in the JAK / STAT signaling pathway. In response to type I IFN stimulation STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 interact and form ISGF3 that binds to a specific DNA sequence called interferon-stimulated response element (ISRE) (Fu et al., 1990, Levy et al., 1989). IRF9 in both mouse and human is shown to spontaneously accumulate in the nucleus because of a nuclear localization signal (NLS) present within or close to its DBD, but it is also detected in the cytoplasm of the cells (Lau et al., 2000).

# **Regulation of JAK / STAT**

In mammals, the JAK/STAT pathway is the principal signaling mechanism for a wide array of cytokines and growth factors. Naturally, reduced activity, constitutive activity and / or failure in regulation of JAK / STAT signaling may lead to abnormality and disease; this makes its regulation essential. There are several molecules and processes involved in down-regulation of JAK/STAT signaling activity. Both JAKs and STATs are activated when they are phosphorylated on specific tyrosine residues (and serine in some cases) as result of external stimuli (i.e. IFN-stimulation), and one efficient strategy to down-regulate their activity is de-phosphorylation of these residues. Some of the major phosphatases involved in this process are; SH2-containing Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases 1 and 2 (SHP1 and SHP2), CD45, Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase 1B (PTP1B) and T-cell PTP (TCPTP).

SHP1 is expressed mainly in hematopoietic cells and is involved in de-phosphorylation of JAK1 (David et al., 1995) and JAK2 (Klingmuller et al., 1995, Jiao et al., 1996). CD45, a receptor PTP,

is a general inhibitor of JAKs and can directly bind to all JAKs and dephosphorylate them (Irie-Sasaki et al., 2001). PTP1B de-phosphorylates JAK2 and TYK2 (Myers et al., 2001) and TCPTP can de-phosphorylate JAK1 and JAK3 (Simoncic et al., 2002). SHP2 interacts with, and de-phosphorylates STAT5a (Chen et al., 2003, Chughtai et al., 2002) and seems to be involved in de-phosphorylation of STAT1. TC45 (the nuclear isoform of TCPTP) and SHP2 de-phosphorylate STAT1 in the nucleus (ten Hoeve et al., 2002, Wu et al., 2002), a necessary step for STAT1 nuclear export.

Another group of JAK / STAT inhibitors are Protein Inhibitors of STAT signaling (PIAS). Members of this group of proteins from drosophila to mammalian species are involved in negative regulation of STAT molecules. In mammals this group includes 4 members, PIAS1, PIAS3, PIASX and PIASY (Liu et al., 1998, Chung et al., 1997) . PIAS1 and 3 inhibit STAT1 and 3 respectively (Chung et al., 1997, Liu et al., 1998), by inhibiting their DNA-binding activity. PIASX inhibits STAT4 and PIASY interacts with STAT5 and regulates STAT5 mediated gene expression. PIASX and PIASY affect STAT4 and STAT1 activity without interfering with their DNA-binding activity probably by acting as co-repressors (Arora et al., 2003, Liu et al., 2001).

A third major group of proteins, and probably most studied group, involved in regulation of JAK / STAT signaling is a number structurally related proteins called Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS). SOCS molecules are constitutively expressed at low rates, but their expression is up-regulated shortly after cytokine stimulation and they are degraded after a short time (Starr et al., 1997, Tollet-Egnell et al., 1999, Adams et al., 1998). SOCS proteins inhibit type I and type II cytokines using different mechanisms; at the receptor level by competing with the STATs (JAK substrates), in binding to the intracellular domains of the activated receptors and on the JAK level, by interfering with their kinase activity. They are also involved in ubiquitination and proteosomal degradation of JAK and STAT molecules. The SOCS family includes 8 members; SOCS 1 – 7 and CIS or CISH (Cytokine-inducible SH2- containing protein) (Hilton, 1999, Hilton et al., 1998). They have similar structure which is comprised of a central SH2 domains, which like the SH2 domains in STATs has high affinity for phospho-tyrosine residues and defines specificity of SOCS, a variable N-terminal, and a 40 aa long sequence known as SOCS box in the C-terminal of proteins (Starr et al., 1997) which mediates ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the at the structure who mediates ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the structure through interaction with the Elongin B and C, known

components of the ubiquitin E3 ligase complex. N-terminally to the SOCS1 and SOCS3-SH2 domain which interacts with tyrosine phosphorylated JAKs and inhibits their function (Endo et al., 1997, Starr et al., 1997). SOCS1 and SOCS3 have an additional domain called Kinase Inhibitor Region (KIR), a 12 aa long region which interacts with the kinase domain of JAKs and strongly inhibits their kinase activity (Yasukawa et al., 1999). SOCS1 and SOCS3 both inhibit JAK activity through their SH2 domain (Yasukawa et al., 1999), but while SOCS1-SH2 interacts directly with phospho-tyrosine residues of Tyk2 kinase domain to inhibit type I IFN signaling (Piganis et al., 2011), SOCS3 – SH2 interacts with the substrate binding grove of JAK2 and blocks substrate association (Kershaw et al., 2013).

In addition to cytokine stimulation, SOCS are also expressed as a direct result of TLR stimulation by viral and bacterial factors like CpG-DNA (Dalpke et al., 2001) and LPS (Nakagawa et al., 2002). The effect that SOCS exert on cytokine responses in different ways has been used in immune evasion strategies of different pathogens (Zimmermann et al., 2006). Different pathogenic microorganisms seem to activate expression of SOCS by secreting factors such as lipo-proteins (Pai et al., 2003).

# JAK / STAT in fish

Since discovery of IFNs in human in 1957 (Isaacs and Lindenmann, 1957) many different members of these family of cytokines have been identified, cloned and characterized both in mammalian species and other species of vertebrates like birds (Sekellick et al., 1994), amphibian (Grayfer et al., 2014) and fish (references cited below). IFN-like activity in fish was reported several decades ago (de Kinkelin and Dorson, 1973), but IFN from fish was cloned and characterized for the first time in 2003 in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) (Altmann et al., 2003), puffer fish (*Tetraodontidae*) (Lutfalla et al., 2003), and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) (Robertsen et al., 2003) by 3 independent groups. Since then, IFN genes have been identified in several other teleost species like channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) (Long et al., 2004), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio L*) (Kitao et al., 2009), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (Chang et al.,

2009), Rohu (*Labeo rohita*) (Parhi et al., 2014), sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L.*) (Casani et al., 2009), Fugu (*Takifugu rubripes*), goldfish (*Carassius auratus L*) (Grayfer and Belosevic, 2009) and Grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) (Li et al., 2012).

Like mammalian type I IFN, fish IFNs have been shown to possess antiviral activity (Altmann et al., 2003, Robertsen et al., 2003) and their expression is upregulated upon viral infections (Collet et al., 2007) as well as stimulation with known inducers of mammalian IFNs like poly I : C (a synthetic mimic of ds RNA) and CpG DNA (Altmann et al., 2003, Robertsen et al., 2003, Pedersen et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2010). Several studies have established antiviral activity of recombinant fish IFNs in different species of teleost (Sun et al., 2011, Chaves-Pozo et al., 2010, Chen et al., 2014). Furthermore treatment of fish cells with IFNs are shown to induce of a wide range of IFN stimulated genes (ISG), including Mx, viperin, ISG15, PKR, and for some of these an enhanced antiviral state in fish cells are found (Chen et al., 2014, Sun et al., 2011, Svingerud et al., 2012).

While members of JAK / STAT signaling pathway have been extensively studied in different mammalian species, information about JAK / STAT signaling from fish is still scarce, even though molecules involved in this pathway are identified and characterized in several fish species. Studies of JAK molecules in round-spotted pufferfish (Leu et al., 1998, Leu et al., 2000) and the mandarin fish (*Siniperca chuatsi*) (Guo et al., 2009) have shown that JAKs in fish harbor the same structural composition and are of the same size as their mammalian counterparts. And studies in several fish showed that their expression is upregulated as a result of stimulation with IFNs and other IFN-signaling activators like CpG and poly I:C (Guo et al., 2009, Leu et al., 1998, Leu et al., 2000).

STAT1 and STAT2 have also been studied in different piscine species including Olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) (Park et al., 2008), pufferfish and in zebrafish (Stein et al., 2007), the mandarin fish (*Siniperca chuatsi*) (Guo et al., 2009), Atlantic salmon (Collet et al., 2008, Collet et al., 2009, Skjesol et al., 2010), crucian carp (*Carassius auratus L.*) (Zhang and Gui, 2004, Yu et al., 2010), turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) (Wang et al., 2013) and it has been shown that their expression is upregulated as result of CpG, poly I : C and IFN stimulation. The fact that Atlantic salmon STAT1 is the target of immune evasion for some viruses like IPNV and ISAV (Collet et al., 2008) and turbot STAT2 expression is upregulated in response to virus infection (Wang et al., 2008)

2013), provide further evidence of involvement of teleost JAK/STAT in the organisms immune response to viral infection.

IRF9 from a few fish species have been identified (Shi et al., 2013, Shi et al., 2012). IRF9 homologue from crucian carp was shown to translocate spontaneously to the nucleus, while it was still detectable to some degree in the cytoplasm (Shi et al., 2012). IRF9 has both ISRE and GAS elements in its promoter region but in zebrafish its expression was primarily upregulated as a result of IFN $\gamma$  stimulation. Transfection of carp epithelioma papulosum cyprini (EPC) cells with IRF3 and IRF7 as well as combination of IRF9 and STAT2, lead to activity of IRF9 promoter in luciferase assay (Shi et al., 2013).

#### **Studies of SOCS in fish**

In addition to ortologs to all SOCS found in mammals (SOCS1 – 7 and CISH) also several novel members of this family (SOCS-3b, SOCS-5b, SOCS-8 and SOCS-9) are found in teleost fish (Jin et al., 2008). Like SOCS from mammalian species, SOCS molecules from pufferfish, zebrafish, fugu,, japanese rice fish (*Oryzias latipes*) (Jin et al., 2007a, Jin et al., 2007b) and common carp (Xiao et al., 2010) possess similar domain like structures and have been expressed in all of the examined tissues.

The induction of fish SOCS gene expression is SOCS member-, cell type and cytokine dependent. Furthermore, like their mammalian counterparts, the fish SOCS are also induced by PAMPS and bacterial, viral and parasitic infections (Wang et al., 2011). For example in pufferfish, zebrafish, fugu, three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) and the Japanese rice fish expression of SOCS 1 - 5, SOCS9 as well as CISH was upregulated as a result of LPS stimulation (Jin et al., 2007a). SOCS1 from both zebrafish and pufferfish were induced by IFN stimulation and its overexpression did inhibit expression of ISGs like Mx and Viperin (Nie et al., 2014). In fact SOCS1 is one of the main regulators of type I and II IFN signaling in mammals (Qing et al., 2005) as well as fish (Nie et al., 2014) and this also have been documented by our group (Skjesol et al., 2014). In rainbow trout stimulation with IFN $\gamma$ , poly I:C and LPS lead to upregulation of SOCS1 – 3, but not of SOCS6, 7 and 9 (Wang et al., 2010, Wang and Secombes,

2008). Expression of Carp SOCS3 has been shown to be upregulated as result of virus infection (Xiao et al., 2010). Turbot SOCS3 homologue (named SmSOCS3) expression was upregulated as a result of bacterial infection as well as TNF stimulation and SmSOCS3 overexpression in HK macrophages inhibited the transcription of TNF- $\alpha$  as well as IL-1 $\beta$  and CC-chemokine (Zhang et al., 2011). These studies show that like their mammalian counterparts, SOCS molecules in bony fish are involved in regulation of inflammatory responses.

# Aims of study

One of the main defense mechanisms activated in vertebrates in response to viral infection is the IFN activated JAK/STAT signaling pathway. On the other hand, in the course of their evolution viruses have developed strategies to counter this mechanism in order to infect the host organism. These strategies usually involve virus proteins disturbing different immune responses by attacking specific molecules involved in the immune response. A better understanding of molecules that are targeted and the processes that are inhibited by viruses is a necessity in order to design efficient vaccines against those viruses.

The aim of this study was to enhance understanding of JAK/STAT signaling in Atlantic salmon. To do so, major molecules involved in this pathway were cloned and/or characterized. The molecules cloned and characterized are:

- Tyk2
- STAT1a (characterization)
- STAT2 a/b
- IRF9
- SOCS1
- SOCS2 a/b
- CISH

# **Summary of papers**

## Paper I

Mehrdad Sobhkhez, Tom Hansen, Dimitar B. Iliev, Astrid Skjesol, Jorunn B. Jørgensen

# The Atlantic salmon protein tyrosine kinase Tyk2: molecular cloning, modulation of expression and function. Dev Comp Immunol. 41(4): 553 – 63.

Tyk2, a member of the Janus Kinase (JAK) family of protein tyrosine kinases, is required for interferon- $\alpha/\beta$  binding and signaling in higher vertebrates. Currently, little is known about the role of the different JAKs in signaling responses to interferon (IFN) in lower vertebrates including fish. In this paper we report the identification and characterization of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) Tyk2. Four cDNA sequences, two containing an open reading frame encoding full-length Tyk protein and two with an up-stream in frame stop codon, were identified. The deduced amino acid sequences of the salmon full-length Tyk2 proteins showed highest identity with Tyk2 from other species and their transcripts were ubiquitously expressed. Like in mammals the presented data suggests that salmon Tyk2 is auto-phosporylated when ectopically expressed in cells. In our experiments, full-length salmon Tyk2 overexpressed in CHSE-cells phosphorylated itself, while both a kinase-deficient mutant and the truncated Tyk2 (Tyk-short) were inactive. Interestingly, the overexpression of full length Tyk2 was shown to up-regulate the transcript levels of the IFN induced gene Mx, thus indicating the involvement of salmon Tyk2 in the salmon IFN I pathway.

# Paper II

Sobhkhez, M., Skjesol, A., Thomassen E., Greiner–Tollersrud L., Iliev, D.B., Sun, B., Robertsen B. & J. B. Jørgensen (2014)

# Structural and functional characterization of salmon STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 homologs sheds light on IFN signaling in teleosts. Manuscript.

Mammalian IRF9 and STAT2, together with STAT1, form the IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 transcription factor (ISGF3) complex, which is critical for type I IFN induced signaling, while IFN stimulation is mediated by homodimeric STAT1 protein. Teleost fish is known to possess

most JAK and STAT family members, however, description of their functional activity in lower vertebrates is still scarce. In the present study we have identified two different STAT2 homologs and one IRF9 homolog from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L). Both proteins have domain-like structures with functional motifs that are similar to higher vertebrates suggesting that they are orthologs to mammalian STAT2 and IRF9. The two identified salmon STAT2, named STAT2a and STAT2b, showed high sequence identity but were divergent in their transactivation domain (TAD). Like STAT1, ectopically expressed STAT2a and b were shown to be tyrosine phosphorylated by both type I IFNs and, interestingly also by IFN $\Box$ . Microscopy analyses demonstrated that both STAT2a and STAT2b co-localized with STAT1a in the cytoplasm of unstimulated cells, while IFNa1 and IFN $\Box$  stimulation seemed to favor their nuclear localization. Overexpression of STAT2a or STAT2b together with STAT1a activated a GAS-containing reporter gene construct in IFN $\gamma$  stimulated cells. Of notice, the highest induction of GAS promoter activation was found in IFN $\gamma$  stimulated cells transfected with IRF9 alone. Taken together these data suggest that salmon STAT2 and IRF9 may have a role in IFN $\Box$  induced signaling and promote the expression of GAS-driven genes in bony fish.

# Paper III

Astrid Skjesol, Theresa Liebe, Dimitar B. Iliev, Ernst I Thomassen, Linn G. Tollersrud, Mehrdad Sobhkhez, Lisbeth Lindenskov Joensen, Chris J. Secombes and Jorunn B. Jørgensen

Functional conservation of suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins between teleosts and mammals: Atlantic salmon SOCS1 binds to JAK/STAT family members and suppresses type I and II IFN signaling. Dev Comp Immunol 45(1): 177 - 89.

Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins are crucially involved in the control of inflammatory responses through their impact on various signaling pathways including the JAK/STAT pathway. Although all SOCS protein family members are identified in teleost fish, their functional properties in non-mammalian vertebrates have not been extensively studied. To gain further insight into SOCS functions in bony fish, we have identified and characterized the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) SOCS1, SOCS2 and CISH genes. These genes exhibited sequence conservation with their mammalian counterparts and they were ubiquitously expressed. SOCS1 in mammalian species has been recognized as a key negative regulator of interferon (IFN)

signaling and recent data for the two model fish Tetraodon (Tetraodon nigroviridis) and zebrafish (Danio rerio) suggest that these functions are conserved from teleost to mammals. In agreement with this we here demonstrate a strong negative regulatory activity of salmon SOCS1 on type I and type II IFN signaling, while SOCS2a and b and CISH only moderately affected IFN responses. SOCS1 also inhibited IFN $\gamma$ -induced nuclear localization of STAT1 and a direct interaction between SOCS1 and STAT1 and between SOCS1 and the Tyk2 kinase was found. Using SOCS1 mutants lacking either the KIR domain or the ESS, SH2 and SOCS box domains showed that all domains affected the ability of SOCS1 to inhibit IFN-mediated signaling. These results are the first to demonstrate that SOCS1 is a potent inhibitor of IFN-mediated JAK-STAT signaling in teleost fish.

## Discussion of the main findings.

All our findings have been thoroughly discussed in attached papers (papers: I, II and III). The following section will focus on parts of the finding and will complement the discussions in the published papers and manuscripts.

## Tyk2

Tyk2 and JAK1 associate with intracellular domain of type I IFN receptor while JAK1 and JAK2 with that of type II IFN. Since Tyk2 is the kinase specifically involved with type I IFN signaling and many viruses inhibit JAK / STAT signaling as part of their strategy to evade antiviral immunity, we decided to clone and characterize Tyk2 from Atlantic salmon. This was motivated by earlier data published by our group where we could demonstrate that IPNV is able to antagonize type I IFN-signaling in different salmonid cell-lines (Skjesol et al., 2009) and by unpublished data suggesting that the virus target proteins at or upstream of STAT1 phosphorylation (A. Skjesol and T. Hansen, unpublished data).

Our efforts lead to identification of four different isoforms of salmon Tyk2, ssTyk2-1 to 4, two of which (1 and 4) encode full length molecules with a conserved structure among vertebrate JAKs containing a C -terminal: kinase, followed by a pseudokinase, and then a SH2-homology and a FERM domain. Tyk2-2 and Tyk2-3 were shorter molecules and their sequences included only the FERM domain and part of the SH2 domain. Moreover, phylogenetic analysis indicated that salmon Tyk2s are true orthologs of the mammalian Tyk2. Reports from other organisms have shown that different factors involved in JAK/STAT signaling are expressed in all tissues that were studied (Yang et al., 1993, Stark and Darnell, 2012, Shuai and Liu, 2003). This was also the case here; Tyk2 was expressed in all organs from healthy salmon with some variations in the expression level. In addition, studies of the primary leucocytes from head kidney and spleen as well as CHSE-214 and TO cell lines showed evidence of upregulated Tyk2 mRNA upon both type I and II IFN stimulation.

When JAKs are brought in the proximity of each other they are activated through phosphorylation of tyrosine residues located in their kinase domain. Our studies showed that overexpressed Tyk2 is spontaneously tyrosine phosphorylated, and this phosphorylation occurs on the tyrosine residues located in the kinase domain. This became evident when we expressed and studied different domains of Tyk2 separately. We didn't observe any phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the point mutated Tyk2 (Tyk2 K917R) even though tyrosine residues which are phosphorylation targets were intact. This led us to conclude that the phosphorylation observed was due to auto-activity and not caused by the activity of another kinase.

Tyk2 is described as an important component for an efficient induction of ISGs. Our studies showed that auto-phosphorylated Tyk2 was able to increase Mx-promoter activity in CHSE cells using a luciferase reporter construct, something that neither Tyk2-short (Tyk2-3) nor the Tyk2 K917R mutant were able to do. Furthermore, overexpressing Tyk2 in CHSE cells lead to upregulated Mx transcript levels, something that was not detected in control cells (cells only transfected with GFP-empty vector or Tyk2 K917R). These data provided strong indication of Tyk2 being activated when it is in proximity of other Tyk2 molecules; this activity is due to tyrosine phosphorylation of the kinase domain and Tyk2 activation leads to expression of ISGs like Mx.

## STAT1 & 2

Activation of JAKs as result of type I IFN stimulation leads to phosphorylation and hetero dimerization of STAT1 and 2 and their association with IRF9. These three factors together constitute Interferon Stimulated Gene Factor 3 (ISGF3). Formation and translocation ISGF3 to the nucleus and its binding to specific DNA sequences lead to expression of many ISGs.

Earlier studies from our research group had already stated that salmon STAT1a was tyrosine phosphorylated upon IFNa1 and IFN $\gamma$  stimulation(Skjesol et al., 2010). Our attempts to further characterize the molecule lead to identification of the tyrosine target for phosphorylation as result of IFN stimulation. We showed that this tyrosine (tyrosine 695) is located in the SH2 domain. Interestingly, no phosphorylated tyrosine residues were detected when the SH2 domain itself was

ectopically expressed, something that indicated requirement of the whole STAT1a sequence for tyrosine phosphorylation. Further studies showed that STAT1a is tyrosine phosphorylated when cells are stimulated with IFNa1, IFNc and IFN $\gamma$  and that it translocated to the nucleus when cells transiently transfected with STAT1a were stimulated with IFNa1 and IFN $\gamma$ .

Our search for salmon STAT2 resulted in identification and characterization of two isoforms - STAT2a and STAT2b. In addition, there is a previously identified STAT2 homolog (Collet et al., 2009) which we named STAT2c. As expected, all STAT2 isoforms displayed conserved structural domains, like other STAT molecules. All three isoforms had high aa identity with each other and their aa sequences were identical in N-terminus, STAT2a and b were also identical in coiled – coil domain and different from STAT2c, while STAT2a and c were identical in TAD domain which was different from STAT2b TAD. Since it has been reported that the coiled-coil domain is involved in protein interactions and that the TAD domain does interact with transcription co-activators, it seems that these different sequences are involved in recruiting different molecules and could be involved in different activities of STAT2 in salmon.

While as previously shown STAT1a did translocate to the nucleus as result of IFN stimulation (Skjesol et al., 2010), when STAT2a/b were expressed alone they did not translocate. However, they did translocate to the nucleus in response to IFN stimulation when they were co-expressed with STAT1a. This was an interesting observation that needs to be explained. One possible explanation would lie on the availability of endogenous STAT1. If STAT1a is available in lower concentration then it could mean that there was need for STAT1a over-expression in order for STAT2 to translocate. We know that STAT1a protein expression is upregulated when cells are stimulated with IFN. But in general it seems that STAT2 needs hetero dimerization in order to translocate to the nucleus, this leaves a lingering question that needs to be answered; does salmon STAT2 have a functioning NLS sequence? This can only be answered by additional experiments.

#### IRF9

Last major molecule involved in ISG3 formation is IRF9. Study of the salmon IRF9 sequence revealed that this molecule had the classic IRF molecule structure, with a DBD which included

five conserved tryptophan (W) residues in exactly the same position as in mammalian IRF9. At the end of the DBD there is one segment of an identified by online NLS finding software (<u>http://nls-mapper.iab.keio.ac.jp/cgi-bin/NLS\_Mapper\_form.cgi</u>) as a possible NLS. Also, an IAD domain is located at the C-terminus of the molecule. This domain showed high divergence compared to IRF9 sequences from other species.

Since direct interaction between Tyk2 and STAT molecules as well as interaction between STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 is essential in formation of ISGF3 and ISG expression in mammals, we wanted to find out whether these interactions exist in salmon. Our co-IP and confocal microscopy data showed that these molecules did indeed interact and co-localized with each other.

We found out that overexpressed salmon IRF9 spontaneously accumulated in the nucleus and in reporter gene assay it activated a GAS element when stimulated with IFN $\gamma$ . In addition, STAT2a and b alone also activated the GAS element upon IFN $\gamma$  stimulation, while, STAT1a did not do that. This could be due to the experimental limitation. For these experiments we used CHSE-214 cell-lines and the transient transfections showed varying efficiency which might have influenced the results. To be able to discuss the role that IRF9 plays in GAS activity in salmon compared to higher vertebrates, one has to perform similar experiments in a mammalian setup , only then it's possible to discuss these finding in comparison with the role that IRF9 plays in higher vertebrates and to reveal a possible difference in the role that IRF9 plays in salmon compared to human or rat.

### SOCS

Activated JAK STAT signaling is necessary for anti-viral activity of the cells. Lack of regulation or spontaneous activity of the signaling can cause many unwanted affects like auto-immunity. That's why JAK STAT activity is tightly regulated. SOCS molecules are one of the most important regulatory molecules.

To shed light on the regulation of Atlantic salmon JAK/STAT signaling three members of this family were cloned: SOCS1, SOCS2 (two isoforms: a and b) and CISH. The structural

arrangements for all three SOSC-family members identified here were similar to the mammalian SOCS proteins as discussed in paper III. We studied possible inhibitory effect of SOCS proteins on different IFN induced promoters using reporter gene assay. While our data showed moderate negative regulatory effect of SOCS2a, SOCS2b and CISH on both IFNa1 and IFN $\gamma$  signaling, SOCS1 managed to completely abolish effect of both IFNa1 and IFN $\gamma$  on the promoter activity. Like Tyk2, STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9, also SOCS molecules are expressed in all tissues of healthy salmon that were included in the study and their expression was regulated (up-regulated) by IFN stimulation as well as the IFN inducing immunostimulants CpG and poly I:C. Our results showed that while different domains of the molecules have variable impact on the regulation of JAK / STAT signaling, the full-length molecules are required for full function. SOCS1 like its mammalian counterpart did translocate to the nucleus and co-expression of SOCS1 with STAT1 inhibited nuclear translocation of STAT1a upon IFN $\gamma$  stimulation.

# **Future prospects:**

While we tried to expand this study as much as possible – given the time we had – to answer main questions related to Atlantic salmon Tyk2, STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 and their role in IFN-signaling in bony fish, there are many questions that remain to be answered.

The fact that STAT2a, b, and c have different aa-sequences in essential domains (coiled-coil and TAD) speaks of their possibility to interact with different cellular regulators and co-activators. Identification of those molecules could provide us with information about possible novel roles JAK/STAT signaling may have in bony fish for example shed light on the possible role STAT2a and STAT2b play in activation of GAS element.

We identified putative NLS sequences in STAT1, STAT2a, STAT2b and IRF9 by aa-identity to already characterized NLS from mammalian molecules. It remains to be proven if these sequences do have the expected function in salmon or not. This is especially important for the STAT2 isoforms. The fact that STAT2 is only translocated to the nucleus when it is co-expressed with STAT1a or IRF9, questions the presence of a functional NLS sequence in salmon STAT2.

And finally the most interesting finding in this study is the stimulatory role that IRF9 may have for GAS element. To our knowledge earlier findings have only documented that IRF9 and unphosphorylated STAT2 are implicated in IFN $\gamma$  signaling through the formation of ISGF<sup>II</sup> and ISRE activation (Morrow et al., 2011). Our findings indicate that they may have a stimulatory role on GAS element. This certainly needs further elucidation. One way to do so is to introduce point mutations on the tryptophan residues in DBD that are essential for IRF9 function. Elimination or reduction of GAS activity in cells transfected with mutant IRF9 upon stimulation with IFN $\gamma$  could be done to elucidate weather IRF9 has a role in the activation of GAS element. Of course here it's important to consider the shortcomings of the methods used. While reporter gene assay is broadly used, it has its shortcomings. The result could be affected by the cell-type, transfection efficiency, endogenous molecules present and the fact that this method excludes the effects of distant enhancers that are present in the genome.

# Main conclusion

- Tyk2, STAT2 (two isoforms), IRF9, SOCS1, SOCS2 (two isoforms) and CHISH from Atlantic salmon have been cloned.
- Overexpressed Tyk2 is auto-activated as result of tyrosine phosphorylation and this leads to expression of ISGs in CHSE-214 cells.
- STAT1a and STAT2 a/b are phosphorylated as result of type I and II IFN stimulation.
- Tyk2, STAT1a, STAT2a/b and IRF9 interact with each other.
- IRF9 spontaneously accumulates in the nucleus when overexpressed.
- STAT2a/b translocate to the nucleus when co-expressed with STAT1a as result of both type I and type II IFN stimulation
- STAT2a/b translocate to the nucleus when co-expressed with the IRF9.
- IRF9 seems to activate GAS element in CHSE-214 cells.
- Expressions of all these molecules are up-regulated as result of IFN stimulation, this shows that these molecules are ISGs themselves.

# **Referances**

- ADAMS, T. E., HANSEN, J. A., STARR, R., NICOLA, N. A., HILTON, D. J. & BILLESTRUP, N. 1998. Growth hormone preferentially induces the rapid, transient expression of SOCS-3, a novel inhibitor of cytokine receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 1285-7.
- ALTMANN, S. M., MELLON, M. T., DISTEL, D. L. & KIM, C. H. 2003. Molecular and functional analysis of an interferon gene from the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *J Virol*, **77**, 1992-2002.
- ARORA, T., LIU, B., HE, H., KIM, J., MURPHY, T. L., MURPHY, K. M., MODLIN, R. L. & SHUAI, K. 2003. PIASx is a transcriptional co-repressor of signal transducer and activator of transcription 4. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 21327-30.
- BARBER, G. N. 2011. Cytoplasmic DNA innate immune pathways. *Immunol Rev*, 243, 99-108.
- BARNES, B. J., KELLUM, M. J., FIELD, A. E. & PITHA, P. M. 2002. Multiple regulatory domains of IRF-5 control activation, cellular localization, and induction of chemokines that mediate recruitment of T lymphocytes. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 5721-40.
- BEADLING, C., NG, J., BABBAGE, J. W. & CANTRELL, D. A. 1996. Interleukin-2 activation of STAT5 requires the convergent action of tyrosine kinases and a serine/threonine kinase pathway distinct from the Raf1/ERK2 MAP kinase pathway. *EMBO J*, 15, 1902-13.
- BEUTLER, B. A. 2009. TLRs and innate immunity. *Blood*, 113, 1399-407.
- BHATTACHARYA, S., ECKNER, R., GROSSMAN, S., OLDREAD, E., ARANY, Z., D'ANDREA, A. & LIVINGSTON,
   D. M. 1996. Cooperation of Stat2 and p300/CBP in signalling induced by interferon-alpha.
   *Nature*, 383, 344-7.
- BOND, E., LIANG, F., SANDGREN, K. J., SMED-SORENSEN, A., BERGMAN, P., BRIGHENTI, S., ADAMS, W. C., BETEMARIAM, S. A., RANGAKA, M. X., LANGE, C., WILKINSON, R. J., ANDERSSON, J. & LORE, K.
   2012. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrate the skin in positive tuberculin skin test indurations. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 114-23.
- CALDENHOVEN, E., VAN DIJK, T. B., SOLARI, R., ARMSTRONG, J., RAAIJMAKERS, J. A., LAMMERS, J. W., KOENDERMAN, L. & DE GROOT, R. P. 1996. STAT3beta, a splice variant of transcription factor STAT3, is a dominant negative regulator of transcription. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 13221-7.
- CASANI, D., RANDELLI, E., COSTANTINI, S., FACCHIANO, A. M., ZOU, J., MARTIN, S., SECOMBES, C. J., SCAPIGLIATI, G. & BUONOCORE, F. 2009. Molecular characterisation and structural analysis of an interferon homologue in sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax L.). *Mol Immunol,* 46, 943-52.
- CHANG, M., NIE, P., COLLET, B., SECOMBES, C. & ZOU, J. 2009. Identification of an additional twocysteine containing type I interferon in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss provides evidence of a major gene duplication event within this gene family in teleosts. *Immunogenetics*, 61, 315-325.
- CHAVES-POZO, E., ZOU, J., SECOMBES, C. J., CUESTA, A. & TAFALLA, C. 2010. The rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) interferon response in the ovary. *Mol Immunol*, 47, 1757-64.
- CHEN, W. Q., XU, Q. Q., CHANG, M. X., ZOU, J., SECOMBES, C. J., PENG, K. M. & NIE, P. 2010. Molecular characterization and expression analysis of the IFN-gamma related gene (IFN-gammarel) in grass carp Ctenopharyngodon idella. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 134, 199-207.
- CHEN, Y., WEN, R., YANG, S., SCHUMAN, J., ZHANG, E. E., YI, T., FENG, G. S. & WANG, D. 2003. Identification of Shp-2 as a Stat5A phosphatase. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 16520-7.
- CHEN, Y. M., KUO, C. E., CHEN, G. R., KAO, Y. T., ZOU, J., SECOMBES, C. J. & CHEN, T. Y. 2014. Functional analysis of an orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides) interferon gene and characterisation of its expression in response to nodavirus infection. *Dev Comp Immunol*.
- CHUGHTAI, N., SCHIMCHOWITSCH, S., LEBRUN, J. J. & ALI, S. 2002. Prolactin induces SHP-2 association with Stat5, nuclear translocation, and binding to the beta-casein gene promoter in mammary cells. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 31107-14.

- CHUNG, C. D., LIAO, J., LIU, B., RAO, X., JAY, P., BERTA, P. & SHUAI, K. 1997. Specific inhibition of Stat3 signal transduction by PIAS3. *Science*, 278, 1803-5.
- COLLET, B., BAIN, N., PREVOST, S., BESINQUE, G., MCBEATH, A., SNOW, M. & COLLINS, C. 2008. Isolation of an Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) signal transducer and activator of transcription STAT1 gene: Kinetics of expression upon ISAV or IPNV infection. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 25, 861-867.
- COLLET, B., GANNE, G., BIRD, S. & COLLINS, C. M. 2009. Isolation and expression profile of a gene encoding for the Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription STAT2 in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Dev Comp Immunol*, 33, 821-9.
- COLLET, B., MUNRO, E. S., GAHLAWAT, S., ACOSTA, F., GARCIA, J., ROEMELT, C., ZOU, J., SECOMBES, C. J. & ELLIS, A. E. 2007. Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus suppresses type I interferon signalling in rainbow trout gonad cell line but not in Atlantic salmon macrophages. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*, 22, 44-56.
- CURTSINGER, J. M., AGARWAL, P., LINS, D. C. & MESCHER, M. F. 2012. Autocrine IFN-gamma promotes naive CD8 T cell differentiation and synergizes with IFN-alpha to stimulate strong function. *J Immunol*, 189, 659-68.
- DALPKE, A. H., OPPER, S., ZIMMERMANN, S. & HEEG, K. 2001. Suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS)-1 and SOCS-3 are induced by CpG-DNA and modulate cytokine responses in APCs. *J Immunol*, 166, 7082-9.
- DAVID, M., CHEN, H. E., GOELZ, S., LARNER, A. C. & NEEL, B. G. 1995. Differential regulation of the alpha/beta interferon-stimulated Jak/Stat pathway by the SH2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase SHPTP1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 7050-8.
- DE KINKELIN, P. & DORSON, M. 1973. Interferon production in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) experimentally infected with Egtved virus. *J Gen Virol*, 19, 125-7.
- DELHAYE, S., PAUL, S., BLAKQORI, G., MINET, M., WEBER, F., STAEHELI, P. & MICHIELS, T. 2006. Neurons produce type I interferon during viral encephalitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 7835-40.
- DEVAUX, P., PRINISKI, L. & CATTANEO, R. 2013. The measles virus phosphoprotein interacts with the linker domain of STAT1. *Virology*, 444, 250-256.
- EHRET, G. B., REICHENBACH, P., SCHINDLER, U., HORVATH, C. M., FRITZ, S., NABHOLZ, M. & BUCHER, P. 2001. DNA binding specificity of different STAT proteins. Comparison of in vitro specificity with natural target sites. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 6675-88.
- ENDO, T. A., MASUHARA, M., YOKOUCHI, M., SUZUKI, R., SAKAMOTO, H., MITSUI, K., MATSUMOTO, A., TANIMURA, S., OHTSUBO, M., MISAWA, H., MIYAZAKI, T., LEONOR, N., TANIGUCHI, T., FUJITA, T., KANAKURA, Y., KOMIYA, S. & YOSHIMURA, A. 1997. A new protein containing an SH2 domain that inhibits JAK kinases. *Nature*, 387, 921-4.
- ESCALANTE, C. R., YIE, J., THANOS, D. & AGGARWAL, A. K. 1998. Structure of IRF-1 with bound DNA reveals determinants of interferon regulation. *Nature*, 391, 103-6.
- FIRMBACH-KRAFT, I., BYERS, M., SHOWS, T., DALLA-FAVERA, R. & KROLEWSKI, J. J. 1990. tyk2, prototype of a novel class of non-receptor tyrosine kinase genes. *Oncogene*, **5**, 1329-36.
- FRANK, S. J., YI, W., ZHAO, Y., GOLDSMITH, J. F., GILLILAND, G., JIANG, J., SAKAI, I. & KRAFT, A. S. 1995. Regions of the JAK2 tyrosine kinase required for coupling to the growth hormone receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 14776-85.
- FU, X. Y., KESSLER, D. S., VEALS, S. A., LEVY, D. E. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1990. ISGF3, the transcriptional activator induced by interferon alpha, consists of multiple interacting polypeptide chains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 8555-9.
- GAO, J. J., FILLA, M. B., FULTZ, M. J., VOGEL, S. N., RUSSELL, S. W. & MURPHY, W. J. 1998. Autocrine/paracrine IFN-alphabeta mediates the lipopolysaccharide-induced activation of transcription factor Stat1alpha in mouse macrophages: pivotal role of Stat1alpha in induction of the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene. J Immunol, 161, 4803-10.

- GAUTIER, G., HUMBERT, M., DEAUVIEAU, F., SCUILLER, M., HISCOTT, J., BATES, E. E., TRINCHIERI, G., CAUX, C. & GARRONE, P. 2005. A type I interferon autocrine-paracrine loop is involved in Toll-like receptor-induced interleukin-12p70 secretion by dendritic cells. *J Exp Med*, 201, 1435-46.
- GAUZZI, M. C., BARBIERI, G., RICHTER, M. F., UZÉ, G., LING, L., FELLOUS, M. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1997. The amino-terminal region of Tyk2 sustains the level of interferon α receptor 1, a component of the interferon α/β receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94, 11839-11844.
- GAUZZI, M. C., VELAZQUEZ, L., MCKENDRY, R., MOGENSEN, K. E., FELLOUS, M. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1996. Interferon-α-dependent Activation of Tyk2 Requires Phosphorylation of Positive Regulatory Tyrosines by Another Kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271, 20494-20500.
- GIRAULT, J. A., LABESSE, G., MORNON, J. P. & CALLEBAUT, I. 1999. The N-termini of FAK and JAKs contain divergent band 4.1 domains. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 24, 54-7.
- GRAYFER, L. & BELOSEVIC, M. 2009. Molecular characterization, expression and functional analysis of goldfish (Carassius aurutus L.) interferon gamma. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 33, 235-246.
- GRAYFER, L., DE JESUS ANDINO, F. & ROBERT, J. 2014. The amphibian (Xenopus laevis) type I interferon response to Frog Virus 3: new insight into ranavirus pathogenicity. *J Virol*.
- GUO, C.-J., ZHANG, Y.-F., YANG, L.-S., YANG, X.-B., WU, Y.-Y., LIU, D., CHEN, W.-J., WENG, S.-P., YU, X.-Q.
   & HE, J.-G. 2009. The JAK and STAT family members of the mandarin fish Siniperca chuatsi: Molecular cloning, tissues distribution and immunobiological activity. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 27, 349-359.
- GUPTA, S., YAN, H., WONG, L. H., RALPH, S., KROLEWSKI, J. & SCHINDLER, C. 1996. The SH2 domains of Stat1 and Stat2 mediate multiple interactions in the transduction of IFN-alpha signals. *EMBO J*, 15, 1075-84.
- HARPUR, A. G., ANDRES, A. C., ZIEMIECKI, A., ASTON, R. R. & WILKS, A. F. 1992. JAK2, a third member of the JAK family of protein tyrosine kinases. *Oncogene*, **7**, 1347-53.
- HEIM, M. H. 1999. The Jak-STAT pathway: cytokine signalling from the receptor to the nucleus. *J Recept Signal Transduct Res*, 19, 75-120.
- HEMMANN, U., GERHARTZ, C., HEESEL, B., SASSE, J., KURAPKAT, G., GROTZINGER, J., WOLLMER, A., ZHONG, Z., DARNELL, J. E., JR., GRAEVE, L., HEINRICH, P. C. & HORN, F. 1996. Differential activation of acute phase response factor/Stat3 and Stat1 via the cytoplasmic domain of the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130. II. Src homology SH2 domains define the specificity of stat factor activation. J Biol Chem, 271, 12999-3007.
- HILTON, D. J. 1999. Negative regulators of cytokine signal transduction. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 55, 1568-77.
- HILTON, D. J., RICHARDSON, R. T., ALEXANDER, W. S., VINEY, E. M., WILLSON, T. A., SPRIGG, N. S., STARR,
   R., NICHOLSON, S. E., METCALF, D. & NICOLA, N. A. 1998. Twenty proteins containing a C-terminal SOCS box form five structural classes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 114-9.
- HORVATH, C. M., STARK, G. R., KERR, I. M. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1996. Interactions between STAT and non-STAT proteins in the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 transcription complex. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 6957-64.
- HORVATH, C. M., WEN, Z. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1995. A STAT protein domain that determines DNA sequence recognition suggests a novel DNA-binding domain. *Genes Dev*, 9, 984-94.
- IRIE-SASAKI, J., SASAKI, T., MATSUMOTO, W., OPAVSKY, A., CHENG, M., WELSTEAD, G., GRIFFITHS, E., KRAWCZYK, C., RICHARDSON, C. D., AITKEN, K., ISCOVE, N., KORETZKY, G., JOHNSON, P., LIU, P., ROTHSTEIN, D. M. & PENNINGER, J. M. 2001. CD45 is a JAK phosphatase and negatively regulates cytokine receptor signalling. *Nature*, 409, 349-354.
- ISAACS, A. & LINDENMANN, J. 1957. Virus interference. I. The interferon. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 147, 258-67.

- IZAGUIRRE, A., BARNES, B. J., AMRUTE, S., YEOW, W. S., MEGJUGORAC, N., DAI, J., FENG, D., CHUNG, E., PITHA, P. M. & FITZGERALD-BOCARSLY, P. 2003. Comparative analysis of IRF and IFN-alpha expression in human plasmacytoid and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol*, 74, 1125-38.
- JEWELL, N. A., VAGHEFI, N., MERTZ, S. E., AKTER, P., PEEBLES, R. S., JR., BAKALETZ, L. O., DURBIN, R. K., FLANO, E. & DURBIN, J. E. 2007. Differential type I interferon induction by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza a virus in vivo. *J Virol*, 81, 9790-800.
- JIAO, H., BERRADA, K., YANG, W., TABRIZI, M., PLATANIAS, L. C. & YI, T. 1996. Direct association with and dephosphorylation of Jak2 kinase by the SH2-domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 6985-92.
- JIN, H. J., SHAO, J. Z. & XIANG, L. X. 2007a. Identification and characterization of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS-3) homologues in teleost fish. *Mol Immunol,* 44, 1042-51.
- JIN, H. J., SHAO, J. Z., XIANG, L. X., WANG, H. & SUN, L. L. 2008. Global identification and comparative analysis of SOCS genes in fish: insights into the molecular evolution of SOCS family. *Mol Immunol*, 45, 1258-68.
- JIN, H. J., XIANG, L. X. & SHAO, J. Z. 2007b. Identification and characterization of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS-1) homologues in teleost fish. *Immunogenetics*, 59, 673-86.
- JUANG, Y. T., AU, W. C., LOWTHER, W., HISCOTT, J. & PITHA, P. M. 1999. Lipopolysaccharide inhibits virus-mediated induction of interferon genes by disruption of nuclear transport of interferon regulatory factors 3 and 7. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 18060-6.
- KALLFASS, C., ACKERMAN, A., LIENENKLAUS, S., WEISS, S., HEIMRICH, B. & STAEHELI, P. 2012. Visualizing production of beta interferon by astrocytes and microglia in brain of La Crosse virus-infected mice. *J Virol*, 86, 11223-30.
- KAWAMURA, M., MCVICAR, D. W., JOHNSTON, J. A., BLAKE, T. B., CHEN, Y. Q., LAL, B. K., LLOYD, A. R., KELVIN, D. J., STAPLES, J. E., ORTALDO, J. R. & ET AL. 1994. Molecular cloning of L-JAK, a Janus family protein-tyrosine kinase expressed in natural killer cells and activated leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 6374-8.
- KERSHAW, N. J., MURPHY, J. M., LIAU, N. P., VARGHESE, L. N., LAKTYUSHIN, A., WHITLOCK, E. L., LUCET, I.
   S., NICOLA, N. A. & BABON, J. J. 2013. SOCS3 binds specific receptor-JAK complexes to control cytokine signaling by direct kinase inhibition. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 20, 469-76.
- KITAO, Y., KONO, T., KORENAGA, H., IIZASA, T., NAKAMURA, K., SAVAN, R. & SAKAI, M. 2009. Characterization and expression analysis of type I interferon in common carp Cyprinus carpio L. *Mol Immunol*, 46, 2548-56.
- KIU, H. & NICHOLSON, S. E. 2012. Biology and significance of the JAK/STAT signalling pathways. *Growth Factors*, 30, 88-106.
- KLINGMULLER, U., LORENZ, U., CANTLEY, L. C., NEEL, B. G. & LODISH, H. F. 1995. Specific recruitment of SH-PTP1 to the erythropoietin receptor causes inactivation of JAK2 and termination of proliferative signals. *Cell*, 80, 729-38.
- KOTENKO, S. V., GALLAGHER, G., BAURIN, V. V., LEWIS-ANTES, A., SHEN, M., SHAH, N. K., LANGER, J. A., SHEIKH, F., DICKENSHEETS, H. & DONNELLY, R. P. 2003. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol,* 4, 69-77.
- KROLEWSKI, J. J., LEE, R., EDDY, R., SHOWS, T. B. & DALLA-FAVERA, R. 1990. Identification and chromosomal mapping of new human tyrosine kinase genes. *Oncogene*, **5**, 277-82.
- KRUG, A., LUKER, G. D., BARCHET, W., LEIB, D. A., AKIRA, S. & COLONNA, M. 2004. Herpes simplex virus type 1 activates murine natural interferon-producing cells through toll-like receptor 9. *Blood*, 103, 1433-7.

- KUMAGAI, Y., TAKEUCHI, O., KATO, H., KUMAR, H., MATSUI, K., MORII, E., AOZASA, K., KAWAI, T. & AKIRA, S. 2007. Alveolar macrophages are the primary interferon-alpha producer in pulmonary infection with RNA viruses. *Immunity*, 27, 240-52.
- KVARNHAMMAR, A. M., PETTERSON, T. & CARDELL, L. O. 2011. NOD-like receptors and RIG-I-like receptors in human eosinophils: activation by NOD1 and NOD2 agonists. *Immunology*, 134, 314-25.
- LAU, J. F., PARISIEN, J. P. & HORVATH, C. M. 2000. Interferon regulatory factor subcellular localization is determined by a bipartite nuclear localization signal in the DNA-binding domain and interaction with cytoplasmic retention factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 7278-83.
- LEONARD, W. J. & O'SHEA, J. J. 1998. Jaks and STATs: biological implications. *Annu Rev Immunol,* 16, 293-322.
- LEU, J. H., CHANG, M. S., YAO, C. W., CHOU, C. K., CHEN, S. T. & HUANG, C. J. 1998. Genomic organization and characterization of the promoter region of the round-spotted pufferfish (Tetraodon fluviatilis) JAK1 kinase gene. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1395, 50-6.
- LEU, J. H., YAN, S. J., LEE, T. F., CHOU, C. M., CHEN, S. T., HWANG, P. P., CHOU, C. K. & HUANG, C. J. 2000. Complete genomic organization and promoter analysis of the round-spotted pufferfish JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and TYK2 genes. *DNA Cell Biol*, 19, 431-46.
- LEVY, D. E., KESSLER, D. S., PINE, R. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1989. Cytoplasmic activation of ISGF3, the positive regulator of interferon-alpha-stimulated transcription, reconstituted in vitro. *Genes Dev*, 3, 1362-71.
- LI, D., TAN, W., MA, M., YU, X., LAI, Q., WU, Z., LIN, G. & HU, C. 2012. Molecular characterization and transcription regulation analysis of type I IFN gene in grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella). *Gene*, 504, 31-40.
- LIN, R., MAMANE, Y. & HISCOTT, J. 1999. Structural and functional analysis of interferon regulatory factor 3: localization of the transactivation and autoinhibitory domains. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 2465-74.
- LIN, R., MAMANE, Y. & HISCOTT, J. 2000. Multiple regulatory domains control IRF-7 activity in response to virus infection. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 34320-7.
- LIONGUE, C. & WARD, A. C. 2013. Evolution of the JAK-STAT pathway. *JAKSTAT*, 2, e22756.
- LIU, B., GROSS, M., TEN HOEVE, J. & SHUAI, K. 2001. A transcriptional corepressor of Stat1 with an essential LXXLL signature motif. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 3203-7.
- LIU, B., LIAO, J., RAO, X., KUSHNER, S. A., CHUNG, C. D., CHANG, D. D. & SHUAI, K. 1998. Inhibition of Stat1-mediated gene activation by PIAS1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 10626-31.
- LONG, S., WILSON, M., BENGTEN, E., BRYAN, L., CLEM, L. W., MILLER, N. W. & CHINCHAR, V. G. 2004. Identification of a cDNA encoding channel catfish interferon. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 28, 97-111.
- LOO, Y. M. & GALE, M., JR. 2011. Immune signaling by RIG-I-like receptors. *Immunity*, 34, 680-92.
- LUND, J., SATO, A., AKIRA, S., MEDZHITOV, R. & IWASAKI, A. 2003. Toll-like receptor 9-mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Exp Med*, 198, 513-20.
- LUND, J. M., ALEXOPOULOU, L., SATO, A., KAROW, M., ADAMS, N. C., GALE, N. W., IWASAKI, A. & FLAVELL, R. A. 2004. Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 5598-603.
- LUTFALLA, G., ROEST CROLLIUS, H., STANGE-THOMANN, N., JAILLON, O., MOGENSEN, K. & MONNERON, D. 2003. Comparative genomic analysis reveals independent expansion of a lineage-specific gene family in vertebrates: the class II cytokine receptors and their ligands in mammals and fish. *BMC Genomics*, 4, 29.
- MAO, X., REN, Z., PARKER, G. N., SONDERMANN, H., PASTORELLO, M. A., WANG, W., MCMURRAY, J. S., DEMELER, B., DARNELL JR, J. E. & CHEN, X. 2005. Structural Bases of Unphosphorylated STAT1 Association and Receptor Binding. *Molecular Cell*, 17, 761-771.

- MCKENNA, K., BEIGNON, A. S. & BHARDWAJ, N. 2005. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. *J Virol*, 79, 17-27.
- MEDZHITOV, R. & JANEWAY, C. A., JR. 1997. Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. *Cell*, 91, 295-8.
- MERTENS, C., ZHONG, M., KRISHNARAJ, R., ZOU, W., CHEN, X. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 2006. Dephosphorylation of phosphotyrosine on STAT1 dimers requires extensive spatial reorientation of the monomers facilitated by the N-terminal domain. *Genes Dev*, 20, 3372-81.
- MORIGGL, R., GOUILLEUX-GRUART, V., JAHNE, R., BERCHTOLD, S., GARTMANN, C., LIU, X., HENNIGHAUSEN, L., SOTIROPOULOS, A., GRONER, B. & GOUILLEUX, F. 1996. Deletion of the carboxyl-terminal transactivation domain of MGF-Stat5 results in sustained DNA binding and a dominant negative phenotype. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 5691-700.
- MORROW, A. N., SCHMEISSER, H., TSUNO, T. & ZOON, K. C. 2011. A novel role for IFN-stimulated gene factor 3II in IFN-gamma signaling and induction of antiviral activity in human cells. *J Immunol*, 186, 1685-93.
- MUI, A. L., WAKAO, H., KINOSHITA, T., KITAMURA, T. & MIYAJIMA, A. 1996. Suppression of interleukin-3induced gene expression by a C-terminal truncated Stat5: role of Stat5 in proliferation. *EMBO J*, 15, 2425-33.
- MULLER, M., LAXTON, C., BRISCOE, J., SCHINDLER, C., IMPROTA, T., DARNELL, J. E., JR., STARK, G. R. & KERR, I. M. 1993. Complementation of a mutant cell line: central role of the 91 kDa polypeptide of ISGF3 in the interferon-alpha and -gamma signal transduction pathways. *EMBO J*, 12, 4221-8.
- MYERS, M. P., ANDERSEN, J. N., CHENG, A., TREMBLAY, M. L., HORVATH, C. M., PARISIEN, J. P., SALMEEN, A., BARFORD, D. & TONKS, N. K. 2001. TYK2 and JAK2 are substrates of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 47771-4.
- NAKAGAWA, R., NAKA, T., TSUTSUI, H., FUJIMOTO, M., KIMURA, A., ABE, T., SEKI, E., SATO, S., TAKEUCHI, O., TAKEDA, K., AKIRA, S., YAMANISHI, K., KAWASE, I., NAKANISHI, K. & KISHIMOTO, T. 2002. SOCS-1 participates in negative regulation of LPS responses. *Immunity*, **17**, 677-87.
- NEHYBA, J., HRDLICKOVA, R., BURNSIDE, J. & BOSE, H. R., JR. 2002. A novel interferon regulatory factor (IRF), IRF-10, has a unique role in immune defense and is induced by the v-Rel oncoprotein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 3942-57.
- NIE, L., XIONG, R., ZHANG, Y. S., ZHU, L. Y., SHAO, J. Z. & XIANG, L. X. 2014. Conserved inhibitory role of teleost SOCS-1s in IFN signaling pathways. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 43, 23-9.
- O'NEILL, L. A. J., GOLENBOCK, D. & BOWIE, A. G. 2013. The history of Toll-like receptors [mdash] redefining innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 13, 453-460.
- OSTERLUND, P., VECKMAN, V., SIREN, J., KLUCHER, K. M., HISCOTT, J., MATIKAINEN, S. & JULKUNEN, I. 2005. Gene expression and antiviral activity of alpha/beta interferons and interleukin-29 in virus-infected human myeloid dendritic cells. *J Virol*, 79, 9608-17.
- PAI, R. K., CONVERY, M., HAMILTON, T. A., BOOM, W. H. & HARDING, C. V. 2003. Inhibition of IFNgamma-induced class II transactivator expression by a 19-kDa lipoprotein from Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a potential mechanism for immune evasion. *J Immunol*, 171, 175-84.
- PARHI, J., MUKHERJEE, S. C., SAXENA, G., SAHOO, L. & MAKESH, M. 2014. Molecular characterization and expression of type-I interferon gene in Labeo rohita. *Mol Biol Rep*.
- PARK, E. M., KANG, J. H., SEO, J. S., KIM, G., CHUNG, J. & CHOI, T. J. 2008. Molecular cloning and expression analysis of the STAT1 gene from olive flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus. *BMC Immunol*, 9, 31.
- PAUN, A. & PITHA, P. M. 2007. The IRF family, revisited. *Biochimie*, 89, 744-753.
- PEDERSEN, G. M., JOHANSEN, A., OLSEN, R. L. & JORGENSEN, J. B. 2006. Stimulation of type I IFN activity in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) leukocytes: synergistic effects of cationic proteins and CpG ODN. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*, 20, 503-18.

- PESTKA, S. 2007. The interferons: 50 years after their discovery, there is much more to learn. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 20047-51.
- PESTKA, S., KRAUSE, C. D. & WALTER, M. R. 2004. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. *Immunol Rev*, 202, 8-32.
- PIGANIS, R. A. R., DE WEERD, N. A., GOULD, J. A., SCHINDLER, C. W., MANSELL, A., NICHOLSON, S. E. & HERTZOG, P. J. 2011. Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS) 1 Inhibits Type I Interferon (IFN) Signaling via the Interferon α Receptor (IFNAR1)-associated Tyrosine Kinase Tyk2. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286, 33811-33818.
- POTT, J., MAHLAKOIV, T., MORDSTEIN, M., DUERR, C. U., MICHIELS, T., STOCKINGER, S., STAEHELI, P. & HORNEF, M. W. 2011. IFN-lambda determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 7944-9.
- QING, Y., COSTA-PEREIRA, A. P., WATLING, D. & STARK, G. R. 2005. Role of tyrosine 441 of interferon-y receptor subunit 1 in SOCS-1-mediated attenuation of STAT1 activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 1849-1853.
- RAWLINGS, J. S., ROSLER, K. M. & HARRISON, D. A. 2004. The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. J Cell Sci, 117, 1281-3.
- REIZIS, B., BUNIN, A., GHOSH, H. S., LEWIS, K. L. & SISIRAK, V. 2011. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 29, 163-83.
- RICHTER, M. F., DUMENIL, G., UZE, G., FELLOUS, M. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1998. Specific contribution of Tyk2 JH regions to the binding and the expression of the interferon alpha/beta receptor component IFNAR1. J Biol Chem, 273, 24723-9.
- ROBERTSEN, B., BERGAN, V., ROKENES, T., LARSEN, R. & ALBUQUERQUE, A. 2003. Atlantic salmon interferon genes: cloning, sequence analysis, expression, and biological activity. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 23, 601-12.
- SCHRODER, K., HERTZOG, P. J., RAVASI, T. & HUME, D. A. 2004. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J Leukoc Biol*, **75**, 163-89.
- SEKELLICK, M. J., FERRANDINO, A. F., HOPKINS, D. A. & MARCUS, P. I. 1994. Chicken interferon gene: cloning, expression, and analysis. *J Interferon Res*, 14, 71-9.
- SHEPPARD, P., KINDSVOGEL, W., XU, W., HENDERSON, K., SCHLUTSMEYER, S., WHITMORE, T. E., KUESTNER, R., GARRIGUES, U., BIRKS, C., RORABACK, J., OSTRANDER, C., DONG, D., SHIN, J., PRESNELL, S., FOX, B., HALDEMAN, B., COOPER, E., TAFT, D., GILBERT, T., GRANT, F. J., TACKETT, M., KRIVAN, W., MCKNIGHT, G., CLEGG, C., FOSTER, D. & KLUCHER, K. M. 2003. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. *Nat Immunol*, *4*, 63-8.
- SHI, J., ZHANG, Y.-B., LIU, T.-K., SUN, F. & GUI, J.-F. 2012. Subcellular localization and functional characterization of a fish IRF9 from crucian carp Carassius auratus. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 33, 258-266.
- SHI, J., ZHANG, Y. B., ZHANG, J. S. & GUI, J. F. 2013. Expression regulation of zebrafish interferon regulatory factor 9 by promoter analysis. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 41, 534-43.
- SHUAI, K., HORVATH, C. M., HUANG, L. H. T., QURESHI, S. A., COWBURN, D. & DARNELL JR, J. E. 1994. Interferon activation of the transcription factor Stat91 involves dimerization through SH2phosphotyrosyl peptide interactions. *Cell*, 76, 821-828.
- SHUAI, K. & LIU, B. 2003. Regulation of JAK-STAT signalling in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 3, 900-911.
- SIMONCIC, P. D., LEE-LOY, A., BARBER, D. L., TREMBLAY, M. L. & MCGLADE, C. J. 2002. The T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase is a negative regulator of janus family kinases 1 and 3. *Curr Biol*, 12, 446-53.

- SKJESOL, A., AAMO, T., HEGSETH, M. N., ROBERTSEN, B. & JORGENSEN, J. B. 2009. The interplay between infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) and the IFN system: IFN signaling is inhibited by IPNV infection. *Virus Res*, 143, 53-60.
- SKJESOL, A., HANSEN, T., SHI, C. Y., THIM, H. L. & JORGENSEN, J. B. 2010. Structural and functional studies of STAT1 from Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *BMC Immunol*, 11, 17.
- SKJESOL, A., LIEBE, T., ILIEV, D. B., THOMASSEN, E., TOLLERSRUD, L. G., SOBHKHEZ, M., LINDENSKOEV JOENSEN, L., SECOMBES, C. J. & JORGENSEN, J. B. 2014. Functional conservation of suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins between teleosts and mammals: Atlantic salmon SOCS1 binds to JAK/STAT family members and suppresses type I and II IFN signaling. *Dev Comp Immunol*.
- SOMMEREYNS, C., PAUL, S., STAEHELI, P. & MICHIELS, T. 2008. IFN-lambda (IFN-lambda) is expressed in a tissue-dependent fashion and primarily acts on epithelial cells in vivo. *PLoS Pathog*, 4, e1000017.
- STARK, G. R. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 2012. The JAK-STAT pathway at twenty. *Immunity*, 36, 503-14.
- STARR, R., WILLSON, T. A., VINEY, E. M., MURRAY, L. J., RAYNER, J. R., JENKINS, B. J., GONDA, T. J., ALEXANDER, W. S., METCALF, D., NICOLA, N. A. & HILTON, D. J. 1997. A family of cytokine-inducible inhibitors of signalling. *Nature*, 387, 917-21.
- STEIN, C., CACCAMO, M., LAIRD, G. & LEPTIN, M. 2007. Conservation and divergence of gene families encoding components of innate immune response systems in zebrafish. *Genome Biol*, **8**, R251.
- STREHLOW, I. & SCHINDLER, C. 1998. Amino-terminal signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) domains regulate nuclear translocation and STAT deactivation. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 28049-56.
- SUN, B., SKJAEVELAND, I., SVINGERUD, T., ZOU, J., JORGENSEN, J. & ROBERTSEN, B. 2011. Antiviral activity of salmonid gamma interferon against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus and salmonid alphavirus and its dependency on type I interferon. *J Virol*, 85, 9188-98.
- SVINGERUD, T., SOLSTAD, T., SUN, B., NYRUD, M. L., KILENG, O., GREINER-TOLLERSRUD, L. & ROBERTSEN,
   B. 2012. Atlantic salmon type I IFN subtypes show differences in antiviral activity and celldependent expression: evidence for high IFNb/IFNc-producing cells in fish lymphoid tissues. J Immunol, 189, 5912-23.
- SWIECKI, M., WANG, Y., GILFILLAN, S. & COLONNA, M. 2013. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells contribute to systemic but not local antiviral responses to HSV infections. *PLoS Pathog*, 9, e1003728.
- TEN HOEVE, J., DE JESUS IBARRA-SANCHEZ, M., FU, Y., ZHU, W., TREMBLAY, M., DAVID, M. & SHUAI, K. 2002. Identification of a nuclear Stat1 protein tyrosine phosphatase. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 5662-8.
- TOLLET-EGNELL, P., FLORES-MORALES, A., STAVREUS-EVERS, A., SAHLIN, L. & NORSTEDT, G. 1999. Growth hormone regulation of SOCS-2, SOCS-3, and CIS messenger ribonucleic acid expression in the rat. *Endocrinology*, 140, 3693-704.
- VELAZQUEZ, L., FELLOUS, M., STARK, G. R. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1992. A protein tyrosine kinase in the interferon alpha/beta signaling pathway. *Cell*, 70, 313-22.
- VELAZQUEZ, L., MOGENSEN, K. E., BARBIERI, G., FELLOUS, M., UZE, G. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1995. Distinct domains of the protein tyrosine kinase tyk2 required for binding of interferon-alpha/beta and for signal transduction. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 3327-34.
- VINKEMEIER, U., COHEN, S. L., MOAREFI, I., CHAIT, B. T., KURIYAN, J. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1996. DNA binding of in vitro activated Stat1 alpha, Stat1 beta and truncated Stat1: interaction between NH2-terminal domains stabilizes binding of two dimers to tandem DNA sites. *EMBO J*, 15, 5616-26.
- WANG, N., WANG, X.-L., YANG, C.-G. & CHEN, S.-L. 2013. Molecular cloning, subcelluar location and expression profile of signal transducer and activator of transcription 2 (STAT2) from turbot, Scophthalmus maximus. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 35, 1200-1208.

- WANG, T., GAO, Q., NIE, P. & SECOMBES, C. J. 2010. Identification of suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS) 6, 7, 9 and CISH in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss and analysis of their expression in relation to other known trout SOCS. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*, 29, 656-67.
- WANG, T., GORGOGLIONE, B., MAEHR, T., HOLLAND, J. W., VECINO, J. L., WADSWORTH, S. & SECOMBES,
   C. J. 2011. Fish Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS): Gene Discovery, Modulation of Expression and Function. *J Signal Transduct*, 2011, 905813.
- WANG, T. & SECOMBES, C. J. 2008. Rainbow trout suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS)-1, 2 and 3: molecular identification, expression and modulation. *Mol Immunol*, 45, 1449-57.
- WATHELET, M. G., LIN, C. H., PAREKH, B. S., RONCO, L. V., HOWLEY, P. M. & MANIATIS, T. 1998. Virus infection induces the assembly of coordinately activated transcription factors on the IFN-beta enhancer in vivo. *Mol Cell*, 1, 507-18.
- WILKS, A. F. 1989. Two putative protein-tyrosine kinases identified by application of the polymerase chain reaction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, 1603-7.
- WILKS, A. F. 1991. Cloning members of protein-tyrosine kinase family using polymerase chain reaction. *Methods Enzymol,* 200, 533-46.
- WILKS, A. F., HARPUR, A. G., KURBAN, R. R., RALPH, S. J., ZURCHER, G. & ZIEMIECKI, A. 1991. Two novel protein-tyrosine kinases, each with a second phosphotransferase-related catalytic domain, define a new class of protein kinase. *Mol Cell Biol*, 11, 2057-65.
- WU, T. R., HONG, Y. K., WANG, X. D., LING, M. Y., DRAGOI, A. M., CHUNG, A. S., CAMPBELL, A. G., HAN, Z.
  Y., FENG, G. S. & CHIN, Y. E. 2002. SHP-2 is a dual-specificity phosphatase involved in Stat1 dephosphorylation at both tyrosine and serine residues in nuclei. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 47572-80.
- XIAO, Z. G., LIU, H., FU, J. P., HU, W., WANG, Y. P. & GUO, Q. L. 2010. Cloning of common carp SOCS-3 gene and its expression during embryogenesis, GH-transgene and viral infection. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*, 28, 362-71.
- XU, X., SUN, Y. L. & HOEY, T. 1996. Cooperative DNA binding and sequence-selective recognition conferred by the STAT amino-terminal domain. *Science*, 273, 794-7.
- YANG, E., HENRIKSEN, M. A., SCHAEFER, O., ZAKHAROVA, N. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 2002. Dissociation time from DNA determines transcriptional function in a STAT1 linker mutant. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 13455-62.
- YANG, E., WEN, Z., HASPEL, R. L., ZHANG, J. J. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1999. The linker domain of Stat1 is required for gamma interferon-driven transcription. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 5106-12.
- YANG, X., CHUNG, D. & CEPKO, C. L. 1993. Molecular cloning of the murine JAK1 protein tyrosine kinase and its expression in the mouse central nervous system. *J Neurosci*, 13, 3006-17.
- YASUKAWA, H., MISAWA, H., SAKAMOTO, H., MASUHARA, M., SASAKI, A., WAKIOKA, T., OHTSUKA, S., IMAIZUMI, T., MATSUDA, T., IHLE, J. N. & YOSHIMURA, A. 1999. The JAK-binding protein JAB inhibits Janus tyrosine kinase activity through binding in the activation loop. *EMBO J*, 18, 1309-20.
- YEH, T. C. & PELLEGRINI, S. 1999. The Janus kinase family of protein tyrosine kinases and their role in signaling. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 55, 1523-34.
- YU, F. F., ZHANG, Y. B., LIU, T. K., LIU, Y., SUN, F., JIANG, J. & GUI, J. F. 2010. Fish virus-induced interferon exerts antiviral function through Stat1 pathway. *Mol Immunol*, 47, 2330-41.
- ZHANG, J. J., VINKEMEIER, U., GU, W., CHAKRAVARTI, D., HORVATH, C. M. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1996. Two contact regions between Stat1 and CBP/p300 in interferon gamma signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 15092-6.
- ZHANG, M., XIAO, Z. Z. & SUN, L. 2011. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 inhibits head kidney macrophage activation and cytokine expression in Scophthalmus maximus. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 35, 174-81.

- ZHANG, T., KEE, W. H., SEOW, K. T., FUNG, W. & CAO, X. 2000. The coiled-coil domain of Stat3 is essential for its SH2 domain-mediated receptor binding and subsequent activation induced by epidermal growth factor and interleukin-6. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 7132-9.
- ZHANG, Y.-B. & GUI, J.-F. 2004. Identification and expression analysis of two IFN-inducible genes in crucian carp (Carassius auratus L.). *Gene*, 325, 43-51.
- ZHAO, Y., WAGNER, F., FRANK, S. J. & KRAFT, A. S. 1995. The amino-terminal portion of the JAK2 protein kinase is necessary for binding and phosphorylation of the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor beta c chain. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 13814-8.
- ZIMMERMANN, S., MURRAY, P. J., HEEG, K. & DALPKE, A. H. 2006. Induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 by Toxoplasma gondii contributes to immune evasion in macrophages by blocking IFN-gamma signaling. *J Immunol*, 176, 1840-7.

# Paper I

# Paper II

# Paper III